
 

REGULAR MEETING 

October 17, 2022 
10:00 AM 

 
Albany-Dougherty Government Center 
222 Pine Ave, Room 100, Albany, GA 31701 

 

 
AGENDA 

To comply with the request set forth by the Chairman of Dougherty County, GA and the 
guidelines of the Center for Disease Control (CDC) regarding the Coronavirus (COVID19) 
pandemic and social distancing, face coverings (masks) are optional for all meeting participants. 

 

The public will also have access to the live meeting by accessing the Dougherty County Georgia 
Government Facebook page at facebook.com/Dougherty.ga.us or viewing the public 
government access channel (Channel 16). 

1. Call the meeting to order by Chairman Christopher Cohilas. 

2. Roll Call. 

3. Invocation. 

4. Pledge of Allegiance. 

5. Minutes. 

a. Consider for action the Minutes of the September 26 Work Session and  
September 26 Special Called Meeting.  ACTION: 

6. Delegations (The Commission will hear comments on those items pertaining to Dougherty 
County for which a public hearing has not been held or scheduled. Please be brief, to the 
point, and considerate of time for others). 

7. Zoning - Public Hearing.  (Those wishing to speak on these matters should print their 
name on the Sign Up Sheet in the rear of the Chamber prior to the start of the 
meeting). 

a. J. Bryan  & Cynthia Wingate; owner and applicant (22-068) request to rezone 9.91 
acres from AG (Agricultural District) to R-2 (Single Family Residential District). The 
rezoning would allow for the proper owner to subdivide portions of the property to sell 
to the adjacent property owners.  The property currently holds two zoning designations 
R-2 and AG. The property is located at 3520 Thomas Road. The Planning Commission 
recommends approval. Angel Gray, Planning Manager, will address.  

1



8. Purchases. 

a. Consider for action the recommendation to purchase one (1) John Deere 6110M Cab 
Tractor from state contract vendor Deere & Company (Cary, NC) for Solid Waste in 
the amount of $89,222.98.  Funding is budgeted in the Solid Waste Enterprise 
Fund.  ACTION: 

b. Consider for action the Resolution providing for the acceptance and execution of the 
contract to accept the bid for the 2021 LMIG Resurfacing and Safety Action Plan from 
the lowest responsive and responsible vendor meeting specifications, Oxford 
Construction Company (Albany, GA) in the amount of $3,013,073.10 subject to 
execution by the County Administrator.  Funding is budgeted in SPLOST VII 
($425,000), TSPLOST ($2,149,250), 2021 LMIG ($380,125) and 2021 LMIG SAP 
($42,000). ACTION: 

9. Additional Business. 

a. Consider for action the Resolution providing for the acceptance of the revised Public 
Works Park Policy as recommended by the Recreation Committee effective  
November 1, 2022.  ACTION: 

b. Consider for action the Zoning Consideration for J. Bryan  & Cynthia Wingate; owner 
and applicant (22-068) request to rezone 9.91 acres from AG (Agricultural District) to 
R-2 (Single Family Residential District). The rezoning would allow for the proper owner 
to subdivide portions of the property to sell to the adjacent property owners.  The 
property currently holds two zoning designations R-2 and AG. The property is located 
at 3520 Thomas Road.  The Planning Commission recommends approval.  ACTION: 

c. Discuss the proposed County's response to the Mayor’s letter dated March 15, 2022 
relative to the former National Guard Armory property.  County Administrator Michael 
McCoy and County Attorney Alex Shalishali will address. 

10. Updates from the County Administrator. 

a. REMINDER - There will be no Commission meeting on Monday, October 24, 
2022.  The next meeting will a Work Session on Monday, October 31, 2022 in Room 
100. 

11. Updates from the County Attorney. 

12. Updates from the County Commission. 

13. Adjourn. 

 

Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to 
observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of 
the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the ADA Coordinator at 229-431-2121 
promptly to allow the County to make reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

2



DOUGHERTY COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                DRAFT  

WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

 

September 26, 2022 

 

The Dougherty County Commission met in Room 100 of the Albany-Dougherty Government 

Center on September 26, 2022.  Chairman Christopher Cohilas presided and called the meeting 

to order.  Present were Commissioners Victor Edwards, Gloria Gaines, Russell Gray,  

Clinton Johnson and Anthony Jones.  County Administrator Michael McCoy, Assistant County 

Administrator Scott Addison, County Attorney Alex Shalishali, Deputy County Clerk  

Bristeria Hope and other staff were also present.  The public and representatives of the media 

participated in person via live streaming of the meeting on the County’s Facebook page and the 

government public access channel.  Commissioner Ed Newsome was partially absent during 

the meeting because he lost connection during travel. 

 

The Chairman asked the Commission to review the minutes of the August 29th Special Called 

Meeting and September 12th Regular Meeting. 

 

The Chairman recognized Bishop Frederick Williams, Chairman of the Board of Elections to 

update the Commission on the funding request to utilize the Albany Civic Center for the 

purpose of advance voting for the November 2022 General Election.  Bishop Williams shared 

that all of the requirements have been set.  He met with the City of Albany and they have agreed 

to fund half of the cost to utilize the Civic Center. The full amount is $27,140 but Dougherty 

County has been asked to pay $13,570.  Mrs. Nickerson shared that advance voting will begin 

on October 16, 2022, and there are 26 precincts available.  Commissioner Gray had concerns 

about spending funds on a building when the “Candy Room” was County owned and free. 

Bishop Williams shared that there are new machines being used and it is more space at the 

proposed location especially for the senior citizens.  It was shared that there is only one drop 

box this year and it will be open during weekdays.  Commissioners Edwards and Jones gave 

kudos to the voting committee for their hard work.  Chairman Cohilas echoed the same 

sentiments. 

 

The Chairman recognized Debra Richardson, Mental Health Development Disabilities & 

Addictive Disease Advisory Council - Regional 4 Board Member, to provide an update and 

request financial support.  Ms. Richardson said that the NAMI walk will be  

November 15, 2022 on Pine Avenue and they will be participating in the ASU parade.  She 

asked that the Commissioners support the walk.  She also asked the Commission for support to 

fund the “NAMI Walk” scholarship.  Chairman Cohilas asked Mr. McCoy to report back to the 

Commission on ways to assist NAMI. 

 

The Chairman recognized William Wright, representative for AFRAM Tech, Inc., to discuss 

SPLOST funding concerns, due process of law, bulk taxes and assertions.  Commissioner Jones 

asked Mr. Wright to be more considerate to the Commission.  He also asked Mr. Wright to tone 

down the harsh language towards the Commission.  Commissioner Edwards suggested that  

3

Item 5a.



Mr. Wright go through the procurement process by putting in bids for work that he says he is 

qualified to do for the County. 

 

The Chairman called for a discussion to accept the proposed Dougherty County Wind Energy 

Conversion Systems (WECS) Ordinance.  The Albany-Dougherty Planning Commission 

recommended approval.  Planning and Development Services Director Paul Forgey addressed.  

The Public Hearing and Action are scheduled for October 3, 2022.  Mr. Forgey recommended 

approving the adoption of an ordinance to govern wind turbines to generate electrical power in 

the County.  A company was looking to possibly install some wind turbines in Dougherty 

County so it would be a good idea to have an ordinance in place to govern if needed.  He added 

that he worked with Attorney Lee to obtain a legal perceptive on this and minor adjustments 

were made to the ordinance. Commissioner Jones asked for pictures to be shared with the 

Commission of the wind turbines. 

 

Commissioner Johnson left at 10:55 am (and returned at 11:19 am). 

 

The Chairman called for a discussion to accept the bid for Preventive Filter Maintenance for 

Facilities Management from the sole bidder meeting specifications, RHC Heating and Cooling 

(Albany, GA) in the amount of $85,324.05.  Funding is available in the General Fund.  Assistant 

County Administrator Scott Addison addressed.  Facilities Management Director  

Heidi Minnick, City of Albany Interim Procurement Manager Joshua Williams and Buyer 

Ricky Gladney were present.  Mr. Addison recommended approval. 

 

The Chairman called for a discussion to complete an electrical upgrade in the warehouse for 

Facilities Management with the lowest responsive and responsible vendor meeting 

specifications, RHC Electrical (Albany, GA) in the amount of $28,965.  This is a time-sensitive 

request to be in compliance with the upcoming elections. Funding is available in SPLOST VII.  

Assistant County Administrator Scott Addison addressed.  Facilities Management Director 

Heidi Minnick was present.  Action on this item is scheduled in the following Special Called 

Meeting.  Mr. Addison recommended approval. 

 

The Chairman called for a discussion of the board appointments.  Deputy County Clerk 

Bristeria Hope was present to address.   

 

Air Conditioning, Heating, & Ventilation Board – There is one appointment: one County with 

a one-year unexpired term ending December 31, 2022.  There is one new applicant:  

Quianna Lavant.  All joint appointments must be ratified by the City of Albany.   

 

Economic Development Commission – There is one appointment with a two-year unexpired 

term ending December 31, 2022.  There are three new applicants: Will Davis,  

Lawrence Knighton and Quianna Lavant.   

 

Historic Preservation Commission – There are three appointments with a two-year unexpired 

term ending December 31, 2022.  There are two new applicants: Quianna Lavant and  

Kenny Loudenbarger. 

 

4

Item 5a.



Library Board – There are two appointments:  One (1) with a three-year unexpired term ending 

December 31, 2022 and one (1) with a three-year unexpired term ending December 31, 2023.  

There are two new applicants: Will Davis and Charlotte Ledford. 

 

The Chairman called for a discussion to accept the annual Resolution authorizing the Southwest 

Georgia Regional Commission to execute and file the renewal of the annual application on 

behalf of Dougherty County with the Georgia Department of Transportation and the United 

States Department of Transportation for a grant for public transportation assistance under 

Section 5311 Regional Transit Program.  County Administrator Michael McCoy addressed.  

Action on this item is scheduled for the following Special Called Meeting.  Mr. McCoy 

recommended approval.  Commissioner Gaines asked Mr. McCoy to get the number of people 

that are serviced in Dougherty County to help understand the decision that is being made.   

Mr. McCoy said that he will request the data from SWGA Regional Commission and forward 

it to the Board.  

 

Commissioner Gaines acknowledged the former and long-term services of County Attorney 

Spencer Lee and thanked him for his service [he was not in attendance].  Commissioner 

Edwards asked for a meeting with Mrs. Nickerson to look at narrowing the compensation 

distribution of poll workers and look at ways that the workers can be paid in a more timely 

manner.  Mrs. Nickerson shared that the processing of individuals' information is now in the 

office to help payroll move faster.  She also said that they have a paper list to ensure that 

everyone is accounted for.  It was mentioned that security will be provided at the civic center 

during early voting.  Commissioner Jones said that we should have an event honoring former 

Attorney Lee, despite him not wanting the County to have one.  Other Commissioners said the 

same.  Commissioner Johnson shared updated information from ACCG and stated that the 

Jekyll Island conference may be canceled.  He also added that former Commissioner 

Lamar Hudgins had minor surgery and wished that he has a smooth recovery.  Chairman 

Cohilas provided updates from the Washington, DC Fly-in briefing and said that he attended a 

meeting that provided information on energy sufficient with the Marine Corps Base Logistics.  

Commissioner Gray suggested that the County extend the board appointment process for an 

additional week to gain more interest in the potential board appointments.  Commissioner 

Gaines said that our normal process is to readvertise if a board still has vacancies.  Chairman 

Cohilas asked for consensus on this but the consensus failed due to the vote being tied. 

 

 

There being no further business to discuss the Commission the meeting adjourned at  

11:45 a.m. 

 
 

_______________________________ 

CHAIRMAN 

 

ATTEST: 

_______________________ 

COUNTY CLERK 

5

Item 5a.



DOUGHERTY COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                DRAFT  

SPECIAL CALLED MEETING MINUTES 

 

September 26, 2022 

 

The Dougherty County Commission met for a Special Called Meeting in Room 100 of the 

Albany-Dougherty Government Center on September 26, 2022 immediately following the 

Work Session.  Chairman Christopher Cohilas presided and called the meeting to order at  

11:45 am.  Present were Commissioners Victor Edwards, Gloria Gaines, Russell Gray,  

Clinton Johnson, and Anthony Jones Also present were County Administrator  

Michael McCoy, Assistant County Administrator Scott Addison, County Attorney  

Alex Shalishali, Deputy County Clerk Bristeria Hope and other staff.  The public and 

representatives of the media participated in person via live streaming of the meeting on the 

County’s Facebook page and the government public access channel.  Commissioner  

Ed Newsome was absent. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration to complete an electrical upgrade in the warehouse for 

Facilities Management with the lowest responsive and responsible vendor meeting 

specifications, RHC Electrical (Albany, GA) in the amount of $28,965.  This is a time-sensitive 

request to be in compliance for the upcoming elections. Funding is available in SPLOST VII.    

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Johnson, the 

motion passed unanimously. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration to accept the annual resolution authorizing the 

Southwest Georgia Regional Commission to execute and file the renewal of the annual 

application on behalf of Dougherty County with the Georgia Department of Transportation 

and the United States Department of Transportation for a grant for public transportation 

assistance under Section 5311 Regional Transit Program.  Resolution 22-043 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE FILING OF AN APPLICATION 

WITH THE GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION AND THE 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION FOR A 

GRANT FOR PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION ASSISTANCE UNDER TITLE 

49 U.S.C., SECTION 5311 

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Johnson, the 

motion passed unanimously. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration to increase the Voter's Registration and Election 

operation budget in the amount of $13,570 for the purpose of utilizing the Albany Civic Center 

for the November 2022 General Election Advanced Voting.  

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Edwards, the 

motion passed unanimously. 

6

Item 5a.



 

There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting adjourned at  

11:46 am. 

 

 

_______________________________ 

CHAIRMAN 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________ 

COUNTY CLERK 

7

Item 5a.



 

P L A N N I N G  &  D E V E L O P M E N T  S E R V I C E S  
 

P.O. Box 447 Albany, GA 31702 | Phone: 229.438.3901 | Fax: 229.438.3965 | www.albanyga.gov 

 
 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
Date: October 7, 2022 
 
To: The Board of County Commissioners 
 
From: Albany Dougherty Planning Commission 
 
Subject: #22-068 Rezone (3520 Thomas Road) 

 
J. Bryan & Cynthia Wingate (22-068) This is to inform you that J. Bryan & Cynthia 
Wingate have submitted an application (22-068) to the Albany Dougherty Planning 
Commission requesting that the Official Zoning Map of Albany, Dougherty County 
Georgia, be amended to rezone 9.91-acres from AG (Agricultural District) to R-2 
(Single-Family Residential District). The rezoning would allow for the property owner to 
subdivide portions of the property to sell to the adjacent property owners. The 
property currently holds two zoning designations R-2 and AG. The property is located 
at 3520 Thomas Rd (00106/00001/03E). The property owner and applicant are J. 
Bryan & Cynthia Wingate. 
 (District 6) 
 
Jimmy Hall offered a motion to approve the request to rezone 9.91 acres from AG to R-
2; seconded by Aaron Johnson by the motion carried 6-0 with the following votes:  
 
William Geer   Tie or Quorum  
Billy Merritt   Yes 
Art Brown   Yes 
Jimmy Hall   Yes 
Sanford Hillsman  Absent 
Yvonne Jackson  Absent  
Aaron Johnson  Yes 
Charles Ochie  Yes 
Helen Young   Absent 
Willie Simmons   Yes 
 
 

8

Item 7a.



9

Item 7a.



10

Item 7a.



11

Item 7a.



12

Item 7a.



13

Item 7a.



14

Item 7a.



15

Item 7a.



16

Item 7a.



17

Item 7a.



18

Item 7a.



19

Item 7a.



20

Item 7a.



21

Item 7a.



22

Item 7a.



23

Item 7a.



24

Item 7a.



25

Item 7a.



26

Item 7a.



27

Item 7a.



28

Item 7a.



29

Item 7a.



30

Item 7a.



31

Item 8a.



A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ACCEPTANCE AND EXECUTION OF THE 

CONTRACT TO ACCEPT THE BID FOR THE 2021 LMIG RESURFACING AND 

SAFETY ACTION PLAN FROM THE LOWEST RESPONSIVE AND RESPONSIBLE 

VENDOR MEETING SPECIFICATIONS, OXFORD CONSTRUCTION COMPANY; 

REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT 

HEREWITH; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

 WHEREAS, Dougherty County, Georgia issued an invitation to bid for that certain 2021 

LMIG Resurfacing and Safety Action Plan; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Dougherty County, Georgia wishes to accept the bid for the 2021 LMIG 

Resurfacing and Safety Action Plan from the lowest responsive and responsible vendor meeting 

specifications, Oxford Construction Company out of Albany, Georgia; and in the amount of 

$3,013,073.10 subject to execution by the County Administrator; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Funding for the project is budgeted in SPLOST VII in the amount of 

$425,000.00, TSPLOST in the amount of $2,149,250.00, 2021 LMIG in the amount of 

$380,125.00 and 2021 LMIG SAP in the amount of $42,000.00, respectively; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia is hereby 

desirous of approving and executing the contract to accept the bid for the 2021 LMIG Resurfacing 

and Safety Action Plan with Oxford Construction Company attached hereto and specifically 

incorporated herein by reference. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty 

County, Georgia and it is hereby resolved by Authority of same as follows: 

 

 SECTION I      The attached recommendation to accept Oxford Construction Company’s 

bid for the 2021 LMIG Resurfacing and Safety Action Plan is hereby approved and the County 

Administrator is hereby authorized to execute same.  The County Administrator is hereby 

authorized to execute any and all other documents necessary to full implementation of said 

contract.   

 

 SECTION II    All Resolutions or parts of Resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 This the 17th day of October, 2022 

       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

       DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

        

BY: ______________________________ 

          Christopher S. Cohilas, Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________________ 

County Clerk 

32

Item 8b.



33

Item 8b.



34

Item 8b.



A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ACCEPTANCE OF THE REVISED PUBLIC 

WORKS PARK POLICY AS RECOMMENDED BY THE RECREATION 

COMMITTEE; REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN 

CONFLICT HEREWITH;  

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

 WHEREAS, Public Works has prepared a proposed Revised Public Works Park Policy 

attached hereto that was presented by Public Works Director Chuck Mathis at October 10, 2022 

Work Session of the Dougherty County, Georgia Board of Commissioners; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Dougherty County, Georgia Board of Commissioners Recreation 

Committee recommends that the said proposed Revised Public Works Park Policy be accepted; 

and  

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia is hereby 

desirous of approving and accepting the proposed Revised Public Works Park Policy attached 

hereto and specifically incorporated herein by reference. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty 

County, Georgia and it is hereby resolved by Authority of same as follows: 

 

 SECTION I      The attached Revised Public Works Park Policy as recommended by the 

Recreation Committee is hereby approved effective November 1, 2022 and the County 

Administrator is hereby authorized to execute any and all other documents necessary to full 

implementation.   

 

 SECTION II    All Resolutions or parts of Resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 This the 17th day of October, 2022 

       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

       DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

        

BY: ______________________________ 

          Christopher S. Cohilas, Chairman 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________________ 

County Clerk 

 

 

35

Item 9a.



36

Item 9c.



37

Item 9c.



 

 

 

 

 

 

October 17, 2022 

 

Bo Dorough, Mayor 

City of Albany, Georgia 

P.O. Box 383 

Albany, Georgia 31702 

 

Re:   1500 N. Monroe (4.99 acres), 409 11th (12.19 acres), 1503 N. Jefferson (1.38 acres) 

and 1507 N. Jefferson (.37 acres) 

 

Dear Mayor Dorough: 

 

On behalf of the County Commission, this serves as its response to your March 15, 2022 

letter.  It is our understanding from that letter that the City requests that the County deed the above-

referenced property it owns to the City for the purposes of constructing the tennis complex, pickle 

ball courts, administrative offices for the Recreation and Parks Department and a fire station.    

 

The County Commission remains committed to seeing the construction of the tennis 

complex realized.  The County is therefore willing to deed to the City the portions of the above-

referenced property determined and accordingly depicted in the construction drawings to be 

necessary for the construction of twelve (12) tennis courts, 12 pickleball courts and a clubhouse.  

The portion deeded to the City would consist of the southern portion of the property between N. 

Monroe and N. Jefferson running east to west along 8th Ave and include the National Guard 

building for the Recreation and Parks Department to relocate its administrative offices. 

 

The County, however, wishes to retain the northern portion of the property between N. 

Monroe and N. Jefferson running east to west along 11th Ave.  The majority of the County 

Commission believes that the best use of that portion property is for the development of  residential 

housing.  As such, the construction of a nearby fire station that presumably would often employ 

the use of sirens is incompatible with the County’s desired use. 

 

We hope that that the proposed transfer of County property to the City described above 

will assist the City in moving forward with its construction of the tennis complex.  To further this 

effort, the County continues to set aside $1.7 million in SPLOST for the project and remains 

willing to disburse upon commencement. 

 

Sincerely,  

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

       DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

BY:______________________________ 

                Christopher S. Cohilas, Chairman 

38

Item 9c.



Mayor Bo Dorough 

October 17, 2022 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 

 

cc: Ed Newsome, County Commissioner, District 1 

 Victor Edwards, County Commissioner, District 2 

 Clinton Johnson, County Commissioner, District 3 

 Russell Gray, County Commissioner, District 4 

 Gloria Gaines, County Commissioner, District 5 

 Anthony Jones, County Commissioner, District 6 

 Michael McCoy, County Administrator 

 Alex M. Shalishali, County Attorney 

 

 

39

Item 9c.



National Guard Site  

Master Plan 

Albany, Georgia 

July 2022 
Fire Station #2 

Residential/Mixed Use 

Approx. 200 Residential Units 

with +320 Parking Spaces 

Recreation 

12 Tennis Courts 

12 Pickleball Courts 

Converted National Guard 

Building  

Parking for 115 

40

Item 9c.


	Top
	Item 5a.	Minutes
	2022.09.26 Minutes Work
	2022.09.26 Minutes SCM

	Item 7a.	Zoning a_Wingate
	Zoning a_3520 Thomas Rd

	Item 8a.	Purchase a_SW Tractor
	Purchase a_Tractor

	Item 8b.	Purchase b_2021 LMIG
	Purchase b_2021 LMIG Resolution
	Purchase b_2021 LMIG

	Item 9a.	Other a_PW Park Policy
	Other a_Parks Policy Resolution

	Item 9c.	Other c_Mayors Letter
	Other b_Mayors Letter
	Other c_Response to Mayor 2022.10.17_
	Other c_National Guard Site Rev 3

	Bottom

